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ladies and gentlemen,

On behalf of “Baltic international Bank” management, i bring to you the annual Report for 2007. 
Drawing the line under this year, we can safely say it was successful. however, we look for even quicker 
growth in the future, considering the basis layed for it in the past years.

at the time of constant change at financial market successful asset investment becomes a challenging 
task. Continuous contol and regular analysis of investments is a decisive factor for those who thrive to take 
the chances at hand and estimate the existing risks even in changing market conditions.

after years of solid increase of incomes and profits, year 2008 promises a slowdown in economic 
growth. at the same time, different risks which surfaced last year will continue into this year as well. how-
ever, financial markets by nature strive into the future and we consider that in 2008 world economic out-
look will still be positive, albeit with increased risks. This is why it is especially important to have a reliable 
and stable partner who will offer the optimal solution according to the needs and demands of the client 
and considering all details of current market situation.

The Bank boasts a coherent and professional team of specialists, which allows to find solutions tailored 
for each individual client and develop the optimal strategy of work.

in the next 3 to 5 years we plan a significant increase of resources and assets under management of 
“Baltic international Bank”. Based on this, the primary tasks at the moment include attraction of funds, 
formation and extension of products and services on offer as well as optimization of business processes 
according to the highest world standarts.

in 2008, the Bank will see plenty of change from introduction of new information technologies to 
launch of new products. This year, our new headquarters, located in the centre of Old town, will open its 
doors. From there, “Baltic international Bank” will run all the main everyday activities.

The year of 2008 is also an anniversary for “Baltic intenrational Bank”, which was founded 15 years ago. 
This is an important date which tells a lot to latvian banking experts. We are here because of our sharehold-
ers, clients, partners and employees! We are here in order to continue our way forward together with you!

Best regards,

Ilona Gulchak
Chairperson of the Board

Foreword of Chairperson of the Board
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ladies and gentlemen,

You are holding “Baltic international Bank“ annual Report for 2007, in which we tried to complement 
the results of our activity this year with thoughts on similarities between doing business and playing an 
ancient game of chess.

For many centuries, chess is not only an entertainment, but also a practice ground for development of 
strategy and tactics for real-life battles. The principles of doing business are very much alike to composi-
tion of a chess match. The success of any of your undertakings on many occasions depends on how precise 
and far-sighted will your first moves be. Just like in chess, the outcome often depends on the debut.

The wisdom and the logic of a chess match: a quick, tried and tested debut, which allows to set your 
forces in the best possible way and evaluate the skill of your opponent at the same time; a careful and con-
sistent mid-game, where each error might prove fatal; finally, a bright engame, which is meant to put a 
logical end to the match.

isn’t it all very much the same as in business! it is a separate world where everyone is a king of his own 
chess match, and the result cannot be achieved without good judgement and creative thinking.

in our work, all the characters of chess are firmly tied not only between themselves, but also with each 
of our clients. This is exactly why every client is so important for us, as is every employee and every in-
novation which strengthens our Bank.

We are thankful to our staff for the fruitful work done in 2007, and to our partners and clients for 
their trust!

Best regards,

Leonid Kramnoy
Chairman of the Council 

Foreword of Chairman of the Council
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Organizational Structure of the Bank

general Meeting of shareholders

Council

Board Chairperson’s Office

treasury Department

advisory services Division

asset Management Department

Customer identification  
& transactions Controlling Division

Marketing and Foreign Markets Department

Representative Office in Moscow

secretarial Division

legal Department

loans and Documentary Operations Department

hR Division

Compliance Department

Business technologies Division

international payments  
& Correspondent Banking Department

Representative Office in kyiv

private Banking Department

technical support Department

information technologies Department

Representative Office in london

Risk Management Department

payment Cards Division

accounting, statements & Cash Operations Department

internal audit service



Q
ueen — the most 
powerful of all chess 
pieces. it is considered 

to be worth 8 pawns. The queen 
performs the main attacking 
moves. The queen is the most 
dangerous piece – it can be 
moved any number of 
unoccupied squares in a straight 
line vertically, horizontally, or 
diagonally, thus combining the 
moves of the rook and bishop. 

a historical name for the 
queen, fers, has originated from 
the persian word “ferz”, which 
means “colonel, vizier”.

There is a common view that one should be careful 
with developing the queen, because in the enemy’s camp it 
can become an easy target for enemy’s pieces. The queen 
demonstrates its qualities much better in the middlegame 
and endgame. Besides that, the main aim of most 
endgames is the promotion of a pawn into a queen;  
a successful accomplishment of this aim usually signifies 
of a won game.
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Our way

Natalya Tkachenko
Deputy Chairperson  

of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer

This year our Bank is celebrating the 15th anniversary. During these 
years, we have managed to achieve a lot – not only success and recognition, 
but also creation of safe foundation for further development of the Bank.

We have always been focusing on maintaining and developing sus-
tainable partnerships, as well as on preservation of the clients’ capital. 
amongst the strengths, we must mention individual approach, high qual-
ity of the rendered services, and flexibility in decision-making. The Bank 
will in future maintain the previously elaborated business principles by 
developing the spectrum of services even further and by improving the 
quality of client servicing. 

last year was noteworthy due to a range of important events and oc-
currences in the operations of the Bank: the number of clients increased, 
several new and perspective projects were initiated, the branch office in 
kyiv was accredited, the work regarding the transition to the new banking 
platform continued, and further development of the product lines was 
implemented. The volume of funds attracted by the Bank over the course 
of the last year increased by 35%, and the short-term investment volume 
– by 44% in comparison with the previous year. 

The successfully implements the selected strategy and maintains high 
corporate standards in everyday work. We are thankful to the sharehold-
ers, clients, and partners for their loyalty towards the Bank and for suc-
cessful collaboration. 

By establishing a sound foundation for further development, the 
Bank will keep fortifying and defending its positions in the market in 
future as well. 



R
ook — one of the 
most powerful chess 
pieces and the second 

strongest after the queen. 
another name for the rook is 
“castle”. in ancient times, siege 
towers of similar shape were used 
for assailing strongholds. 

One rook is equal to five 
pawns or a bishop and two 
pawns, or a knight and two 
pawns. The rook has a very 
straightforward character. it can move any distance but 
only horizontally or vertically. it destroys any opponent’s 
piece in its way and takes its place, provided that there are 
no friendly pieces in between.

together with the king, the rook can perform a special 
move called castling. loosing a rook for a bishop or a 
knight is referred to as losing the exchange. two rooks are 
generally considered to be worth more than a queen. 
Rooks and queens are called heavy pieces or major pieces, 
as opposed to bishops and knights, which are called 
minor pieces. 
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individual approach and tailor-made solutions guarantee a long-term success of private banking 
strategy. For 15 years our Bank is specialized in private banking, defining a philosophy and service 
culture beneficial for long-term partnership with the clients.

in 1994, our Bank became the first in latvia to introduce private banking. Each client works with 
his personal banker, whom he entrusts everyday decisions. personal banker is a professional who 
knows all the needs and goals of his customer and, consequently, can quickly offer the solutions which 
respond to these needs.

The main rules and values governing the work of a personal banker are the following:
• a personal banker respects and values the customer, personally ensuring maximum comfort and 

convenience while delivering the service;
• a personal banker is honest with the customer, ensuring that the assests entrusted to him are 

meticulously watched; 
• a personal banker observes customer service ethics, ensuring complete confidentiality of all 

operations of the client;
• a personal banker acts as a confidant of the client, enabling frank relations and ensuring his knowl-

edge of client’s business allows him to find the best possible tailor-made solution.

Natalia Yurchenko
head of private Banking 

Division

Sergey Nedra
personal Banker

Nikolay Kuzmin
personal Banker

Private Banking and Personal Banker 



K
ing — the most important 
chess piece, even though 
not the most powerful one. 

The king can be moved one square in 
any direction (horizontally, vertically 
or diagonally). The exceptions to this 
are that the king may not move to a 
square occupied by another piece of 
its own side, or one threatened by an 
enemy piece (into check). if a king is 
in check, it is required to remove it 
from the check in the following move. 

The king is not usually moved in 
the opening of the game, except for 
castling, which is done for better 
defence of the king itself and 
development of other pieces. The kings usually participate 
actively in the endgame, helping promote their friendly pawns 
into queens or preventing the development of enemy pawns.

The position of king on the board gives a good view of its 
dependence on other pieces. There is a vertical connection – the 
major pieces need pawns, and they need protection, as well as 
horizontal – the king is helpless without its entourage. 
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in 2007, asset Management Department was detached into a separate 
unit in “Baltic international Bank” organizational structure. aside from 
asset management itself, the function of the department is to consult the 
customers on the most promising and beneficial ways of investment in 
the financial markets of the world.

in 2008, we are going to offer new investment products and a possibil-
ity to create individual investment portfolios using a wider range of finan-
cial tools. The examples of such tools are structured products and invest-
ment funds which are just gaining popularity. in order to offer the best 
investment solutions, which fit individual financial plans and criteria, we 
will give our customers a chance to use individually developed products 
along with products developed for third parties.

We are sure that the new services will significantly increase growth 
outlook and safety of your assets!

Aleksey Belyayev
head of asset Management 

Department

Asset Management



K
night – one of the least 
predictable chess 
pieces. its moves are 

very unusual. knight can be 
moved to any square of the board 
not occupied by a friendly piece, if 
it is located on the other end of 
imagined letter l (two squares 
vertically and one square 
horizontally).

The knight is also a primary 
figure in constructing traps and 
becomes very dangerous if 
located in a central position or close to the enemy’s king. 
With appropriately set aim, a knight and a bishop can 
checkmate the king. 

a knight is equal to three pawns or one bishop. a knight 
is especially valuable in closed positions, since it does not 
possess such mobility, however, it can jump pieces instead.
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in 2007, “Baltic international Bank” carried on with the strategy of 
enlarging loan portfolio, which includes expansion into new regions and 
development of new products. That year, the Bank commenced lending 
business in Western and northern Europe and saw further extension in 
Central asia, while lending volumes and number of contracts increased 
in traditional regions as well.

at the same time, the Bank continued the development and offering 
of new products. new Bank unit was launched in October 2007 charged 
with tasks of selection, evaluation and implementation of various invest-
ment projects, be it real estate, raw materials or less traditional enter-
prises like medicine. already in the near future it is planned to offer a list 
of accepted and scrutinized projects to the clients for investments via the 
Bank or directly. This should ensure rather high profitability of invest-
ment and minimization of the risks.

The structure of the Bank has been changed in order to make coop-
eration and exchange of information with the client more effective and 
quick, while the qualification of the employees is being improved by par-
ticipation in various conferences and workshops.

Dinars Kolpakovs
Member of the Board, 

head of loans and 
Documentary Operations 

Department

Lending



B
ishop — chess piece that 
can be moved any number 
of unoccupied squares 

diagonally. in England, the bishop 
was initially called “alfin”, later on – 
bishop, in France bishop is called 
“the fool” due to the limited number 
of moves, in Russian-speaking 
countries bishop is sometimes 
referred to as “the officer”.

a bishop is equal to three pawns 
and approximately equal to a knight. 

The players start the game with 
two bishops each. Every bishop can 
move only on either the white or 
black squares, therefore they are referred to as light-squared 
or dark-squared bishops respectively.

as a supporting piece, the bishop often plays a significant 
role in defence or attack. position can be controlled and held 
with the help of bishops. 
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We perceive our representative offices as embassies of the Bank, 
charged with a mission to consult and support our clients in the respec-
tive country. in 2007, “Baltic international Bank” ran three representative 
offices in london, Moscow and kiev.

LoNDoN
in 2007, our representative office in london actively worked towards 

obtaining a license from Financial services authority in order to launch a 
full-fledged “Baltic international Bank” branch in the united kingdom.

MoSCow
in May 2007, the representative office obtained a permission of the 

Central Bank of the Russian Federation to prolong the validity of the li-
cense to work in Russia. in June 2007, the representative office became a 
member of association of Regional Banks of Russia, which expanded 
mutually beneficial ties of our Bank with Russian banks.

KYIv
in June 2007, our representative office in kyiv received an accredita-

tion from local authorities. The office is carrying out the research of finan-
cial and economic situation in the banking sector in ukraine, while also 
maintaining and developing ties with ukrainian financial institutions 
which serve trade operations between latvian and ukrainian enterprises.

We are aiming at further development and are interested in long-term 
cooperation with our clients. Often we look for opportunities to open 
representative offices and access new regions together with them.

Edgars Lasmanis
head of Marketing 

and Foreign Markets 
Department

Overseas Representative Offices 



P
awn — is the basic 
chess measuring unit. 
The “weight” of other 

pieces is measured in pawn 
equivalents, so, for instance, a 
minor piece is equal to 
approximately three pawns, and 
a rook is equal to five. in the 
ancient india, where chess was 
considered to be a military game 
designed for training officers 
and commanders, pawns were 
called infantrymen.

pawn is “the soul of a chess 
game”; the pawn structure determines the strategic layout 
of a game. The role of pawns grows significantly in the 
endgame, especially of those moved far forward (close to 
the queening square). 
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in order to give our customers the best possible service, we need posi-
tive energy and creative spirit. to ‘load’ our batteries and to get positive 
emotions, we run corporate events which always welcome both employees 
and partners. a true holiday is when the whole family comes together!

at “Baltic international Bank”, we have several established corporate 
traditions: Birthday of the Bank, Christmas/new Year’s Eve, sports Event 
and Client Conference. We remember about the upcoming generation as 
well by running events for the kids including an exhibition of their own 
art. not only we provide additional leisure opportunities for families, but 
also a chance for the kids to see where their parents work.

The employees of the Bank continue to perfect their professionalism 
by taking part in educational activities in latvia, European countries and 
the Cis states.

Meanwhile, we are looking for young and promising employees who 
are just completing their higher education. With this in mind, we occa-
sionally run different competitions for students and senior high school 
students. For example, in the autumn of 2007 we organized a competition 
of creative projects which sought to enable the students to demonstate 
their ability and expertise in finance-related topics. The best students 
were given a chance to begin their career at “Baltic international Bank”. 
We hope that in 2008 our team will be strengthened by arrivals of new 
colleagues.

Jevgenija volosina
head of human Resources 

Division

Private Life
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Report of the Chairman of the Supervisory Council 
and the Chairperson of the Management Board

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen, 

on behalf of "Baltic international Bank" management we are pleased to present our 2007 financial statements for 
your attention.

in 2007 "Baltic international Bank" continued its successful development and closed the year with a net profit of 
1.5 million lats.

The Bank remains focused on banking services and products geared towards individual needs of our customers. 
in 2007, the Bank’s main efforts were concentrated on expansion of its customer base, acquisition of new deposits 
and continuous improvement in the quality of services rendered to the customers. as a result, the total amount of 
customer deposits and the concluded trust agreements increased by 44 percent and made up 128 million lats as at 
31 december 2007 (from 2006 year's figure of 89 million lats). The amount of term deposits as of 31 december 2007 
achieved a record level of 37 million lats.

lending remained one of the key business areas for "Baltic international Bank" in 2007. as of 31 december 2007, 
the net value of the Bank’s loan portfolio rose 10 percent to 34.6 million lats. at the same time, the Bank managed to 
keep the quality of loan portfolio at the same level as in 2006: the amount of special provisions on loans reduced from 
3.7% as of 31 december 2006 to 3.6% at the end of 2007. The Bank’s net interest income went up by almost 32 percent, 
having hit a record high of 3.9 million lats.

The activities of "Baltic international Bank" in the financial markets evolve dynamically. during 2007, the Bank’s 
investments in financial instruments grew by 9.3 percent and made up 9.1 percent of the assets. The Bank’s total income 
from dividends received and net trading gain made up 803.1 thousand lats. The reason for decrease in profits from trading 
operations on financial markets and investments in financial instruments was volatility on global financial markets.

The Bank also directed efforts at enhancing workplace effectiveness and made additional significant investments 
in personnel, it and infrastructure.

The year 2007 was marked by a number of pivotal events in the Bank’s activity, including:
 · "Baltic international Bank" continued to expand its activities internationally: Bank's representative office was 

accredited in ukraine’s capital Kyiv in June 2007.

 · in the information technologies area, the Bank continued installing the new technologically advanced banking 
system t-24 (the product of temenos group ag, Switzerland), the project initiated in 2006. The system will allow 
to optimize the Bank’s business processes in full compliance with the highest international standards. new banking 
platform will start operating in 2008.

· in January 2008 rating agency moody’s investors Service reaffirmed B1/np deposit ratings and an e+ financial 
strength rating assigned to "Baltic international Bank". all ratings carry a stable outlook. moody’s cited the Bank’s 
ability to defend its market share and its improved financials, as well as solid capitalization, improved credit quality 
and good profitability of core customer operations.
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 · The organizational structure was altered in order to better suit the Bank’s strategic goals (establishment of 
financial product department, Customer asset planning department, non-financial product department) as well as 
to comply with the newest requirements in improving systems of internal control (restructuring and establishment of 
Risk management department, Compliance department).

implementing KyC principle and aml measures still remain our key priority areas. ensuring that the Bank’s 
business is transacted strictly in compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements assures the safeguarding of 
the Bank’s corporate reputation and the reputation of its customers in today’s volatile business environment.

it is worth mentioning significant changes in management, occurred at the beginning of 2008. January 2008 has 
brought new appointments at the Board. Chairman of the Board valeri Belokon has left his post and the Council has 
taken the decision to appoint ilona gulchak as Chairperson of the Board (previously – deputy Chairperson of the 
Board). valeri Belokon remains the major shareholder of the Bank and will involve in supervisory activities of the 
Bank in the capacity of member of the Council of shareholders.

The plans for 2008 include continuing to develop and raise the quality of private banking services, increasing 
investments into technologies and infrastructure as well as education of personnel. The Bank will make an emphasis 
on risk management and will continue to follow conservative approach for trading in financial markets. This will 
enable to enlarge the customer base and increase the size of Bank’s assets.

in 2008 "Baltic international Bank" will open doors of its new headquarters in the heart of the old Riga. The new 
building will become a place of main business activities leaving two current buildings for the needs of back office 
functions of the Bank.

we are encouraged by our success for the moment, have a challenge in the future and are sure that impossible is 
nothing.

we would like to thank all of our customers and partners for fruitful partnership and reciprocal trust. we take this 
opportunity to express special gratitude to our staff members for their commitment to corporate values, productive 
job performance and high professional level of competence.

14 march 2008

leonid Kramnoy
Chairman of the Council

ilona gulchak
Chairperson of the Board

Report of the Chairman of the Supervisory Council 
and the Chairperson of the Management Board
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Supervisory Council and Management Board

SuperviSory CounCiL (as of 31 december 2007)

name   position held   appointed Re-elected
         
leonid Kramnoy   Chairman of the Council  10/10/2003 -
vilori Belokon   deputy Chairman of the Council 10/10/2003 -
viacheslav Kramnoy, sr.   member of the Council  18/07/1997 10/10/2003

ManaGeMent BoarD (as of 31 december 2007)

name   position held   appointed Re-elected

valeri Belokon   Chairman of the Board  15/08/2003 - 
ilona gulchak   member of the Board  15/08/2003 21/05/2007 
    deputy Chairperson of the Board 01/08/2007 - 
alon nodelman  member of the Board  15/08/2003 21/05/2007
Bogdan andrushchenko  member of the Board  13/09/2005 21/05/2007
dinars Kolpakovs  member of the Board  13/09/2005 21/05/2007
Janis apelis   member of the Board  15/08/2003 21/05/2007
natalya tkachenko  member of the Board  01/08/2007 - 
ilze lase   nominee member of the Board 13/09/2005 -

in the year 2007, no changes have been made in the Council membership.

at the end of the reporting year, valeri Belokon resigned from his post of Chairperson of the Board according 
to JSC “Baltic international Bank” Council's resolution of 25 January 2008 ilona gulchak was appointed as the next 
Chairperson of the Board.
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Statement of Management’s Responsibilities

Riga           14 march 2008

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with international financial Reporting Standards (ifRSs) as 
adopted by the european union (eu) and give a true and fair view of the state of the Bank's affairs as at 31 december 
2007, and of the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended 31 december 2007.

The management confirms that suitable accounting policies have been used and applied consistently and 
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates have been made in the preparation of the financial statements for 
the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 december 2007 set out on pages 33 to 79. The management also confirms that 
applicable international financial Reporting Standards have been used in the preparation of the financial statements 
and that these financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and comply with the financial and 
Capital market Commission Regulations on the annual Reports of Credit institutions in all material respects.

The Bank’s management is also responsible for keeping proper accounting records, for taking reasonable steps 
to safeguard the assets of the Bank and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The management is also 
responsible for operating the Bank in compliance with the law on Credit institutions and other legislation of the 
Republic of latvia including regulations of the Bank of latvia and the financial and Capital market Commission.

leonid Kramnoy
Chairman of the Council

ilona gulchak
Chairperson of the Board
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Independent Auditors’ Report

   KpMG Baltics Sia  phone +371 67038000
   Balasta dambis 1a  fax +371 67038002
   Riga lv-1048  www.kpmg.lv
   latvia   

To the shareholders of JsC “BaltiC InTernational Bank”

report on the financial statements
we have audited the accompanying financial statements of JSC “Baltic international Bank” (“the Bank”), which 

comprise the balance sheet as at 31 december 2007? and the income statement, statement of changes in shareholders’ 
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 33 to 79.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with international financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the european union. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. we conducted our 

audit in accordance with international Standards on auditing. Those standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, 
we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but no for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made y management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

© 2008 Kpmg Baltics Sia, a latvian limited liability company and 
a member firm of the Kpmg network of independent member 
firms affiliated with Kpmg international, a Swiss cooperative.
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Opinion
in our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of JSC “Baltic 

international Bank” as at 31 december 2007, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with international financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the european union.

report on other Legal and regulatory requirements
in addition, our responsibility is to assess whether the accounting information included n the management 

Report, as set out on pages 27 to 28, the preparation of which is the responsibility of management, is consistent with 
the financial statements. our work with respect to the management Report was limit to the aforementioned scope 
and did not include a review of any information other than drawn from the financial statements of the Bank. in our 
opinion, the management report is consistent with e financial statements.

KpMG Baltics Sia
license № 55 

Riga, latvia
26 march 2007

This report is an english translation of the original latvian. in the event of discrepancies between the two reports, the 
latvian version prevails.

Independent Auditors’ Report

Stephen young
Chairman of the Board

inga lipšāne
Sworn auditor
Certificate no 112
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Income statement
for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2007

notes
31.12.2007

LvL
31.12.2006

LvL

interest income 4 5 627 953 4 073 455

interest expense 5 (1 702 636) (1 103 673)

net interest income 3 925 317 2 969 782

fee and commission income 6 2 799 470 2 388 708

fee and commission expense 7 (910 861) (974 526)

net fee and commission income 1 888 609 1 414 182

dividends income 8 708 27 988

net trading income 8 794 364 1 491 690

other operating income 9 182 379 833 678

total operating income 6 799 377 6 737 320

administrative expenses 10 (4 480 830) (3 129 273)

amortization and depreciation and disposal of fixed assets 24, 25 (519 479) (247 839)

other operating expenses 11 (242 663) (126 400)

net impairment loss on doubtful debts 12 (114 792) (507 731)

gain on revaluation of investment property 13 298 398 619 640

profit before income tax 1 740 011 3 345 717

income tax expense 14 (244 081) (419 352)

profit for the period 1 495 930 2 926 365

The accompanying note on pages 38 to 79 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 33 to 79 have been authorized for issue by the Council and the Board 
on 14 march 2008, and signed on their behalf by:

leonid Kramnoy
Chairman of the Council

ilona gulchak
Chairperson of the Board
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Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet Items 
as of december 31, 2007

aSSetS notes
31.12.2007

LvL
31.12.2006

LvL

Cash and balances with the central bank 16 8 425 788 6 653 180

due from credit institutions 18 49 954 497 21 391 642

financial assets held for trading 6 301 396 7 497 335

 Securities held for trading 19 5 561 934 7 256 070

 Derivative contracts 20 739 462 739 462

Securities available for sale 21 173 631 173 631

Securities held to maturity 22 4 332 116 1 594 549

loans 23 34 558 351 31 399 651

intangible assets 24 765 241 210 605

tangible fixed assets 25 7 636 158 4 164 325

investment property 26 1 573 938 2 005 304

investments in associates 27 429 009 429 009

deferred expenses and accrued income 28 716 918 655 333

other assets 29 1 702 424 2 638 370

total assets 116 569 467 78 812 934

Continued on next page 

The accompanying note on pages 38 to 79 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 33 to 79 have been authorized for issue by the Council and the Board 
on 14 march 2008, and signed on their behalf by:

leonid Kramnoy
Chairman of the Council

ilona gulchak
Chairperson of the Board
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Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet Items 
as of december 31, 2007

Concluded. Started on page 34

LiaBiLitieS notes 
31.12.2007

LvL
31.12.2006

LvL

due to credit institutions repayable on demand 30 150 217 116 059

due to credit institutions - other liabilities 30 2 986 043 1 995 702

deposits 31 96 925 378 62 987 179

due to credit institutions - other liabilities 32 803 171 1 044 252

derivative financial instruments 20 740 557 56 721

accrued expenses, provisions and deferred income 33 609 731 824 274

deferred tax liabilities 14 232 480 213 620

other liabilities 34 1 869 545 787 914

Subordinated liabilities 35 22 819 53 617

total liabilities 104 339 941 68 079 338

SharehoLDerS’ equity 

Share capital 7 611 285 7 611 285

Reserve capital 545 024 545 024

Retained earnings 4 073 217 2 577 287

 Retained earnings/(accumulated loss) for the previous years 2 577 287 (349 078)

 Profit for the current year 1 495 930 2 926 365

total shareholders’ equity 36 12 229 526 10 733 596

total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 116 569 467 78 812 934

oFF-BaLanCe Sheet iteMS 

Sureties (guarantees) 37 587 389 1 498 528

Commitments to customers 37 4 334 703 4 012 149

total off-balance sheet items 4 922 092 5 510 677

The accompanying note on pages 38 to 79 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 33 to 79 have been authorized for issue by the Council and the Board 
on 14 march 2008, and signed on their behalf by:

leonid Kramnoy
Chairman of the Council

ilona gulchak
Chairperson of the Board
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2007

paid-in share 
capital  

LvL

reserve 
capital 

LvL

accumulated 
deficit/ retained 

earnings 
LvL

totaL  
LvL

Balance as of 31 December 2005 7 611 285 545 024  (349 078)  7 807 231

profit for the year - - 2 926 365 2 926 365

Balance as of 31 December 2006 7 611 285 545 024 2 577 287 10 733 596

profit for the year - - 1 495 930 1 495 930

Balance as of 31 December 2007 7 611 285 545 024 4 073 217 12 229 526

The accompanying note on pages 38 to 79 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 33 to 79 have been authorized for issue by the Council and the Board 
on 14 march 2008, and signed on their behalf by:

leonid Kramnoy
Chairman of the Council

ilona gulchak
Chairperson of the Board
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2007

CaSh FLow FroM operatinG aCtivitieS notes
2007 
LvL

2006 
LvL

profit before income tax 1 740 011 3 345 717

amortization/depreciation 24,25 519 479 247 839

increase in allowances for doubtful debts and off-balance sheet commitments 114 792 507 731

unrealised gain on translation of foreign currencies 8 (305 009) (1 191 204) 

unrealised gain on revaluation of investment property (298 398) (619 640)

gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 9,11 (172 290) (823 575)

increase in cash and cash equivalents from operating activities 
before changes in assets and liabilities 1 598 585 1 466 868

increase in loans (3 246 820) (11 820 868)

(increase)/ decrease in due from credit institutions 78 767 (257 041)

increase in financial assets available for sale - (38 297)

(increase)/ decrease in financial assets held for trading 1 195 939 (2 611 953)

increase in accrued income and deferred expenses (62 094) (533 417)

(increase)/ decrease in other assets 1 051 961 (2 055 368)

decrease in due to credit institutions (37 602) (57 000)

increase/ (decrease) in deposits 33 938 199 (824 257)

increase in financial liabilities held for trading 683 836 33 435

increase/ (decrease) in accrued expenses, provisions and deferred income (214 543) 228 458

increase in other liabilities 1 081 631 295 763

Changes in cash and cash equivalents resulting from operating activities 36 067 859 (16 173 677)

Corporate income tax paid (367 803) -

increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from operating activities 35 700 056 (16 173 677)

CaSh FLow FroM inveStinG aCtivitieS

acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 24,25 (4 430 583) (3 756 595)

proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets and investment property 786 689 2 022 685

acquisition of shares in undertakings - (429 009)

purchase of held-to-maturity investments (2 737 567) (1 368 080)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents as a result of investing activities (6 381 461) (3 530 999)

CaSh FLow FroM FinanCinG aCtivitieS

Cash paid out to repay subordinated debt (30 798) (81 480)

issuance of debt securities 803 171 -

Buyback of debt securities (1 044 252) (147 075)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents as a result of financing activities (271 879) (228 555)

increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 29 046 716 (19 933 231)

opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 17 25 276 745 44 018 772

gain on translation of foreign currencies 8 305 009 1 191 204

Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents 17 54 628 470 25 276 745

The accompanying note on pages 38 to 79 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2007

1. General InforMation

JSC "Baltic international Bank" is a joint stock company registered in the Republic of latvia. Registered office 
address: Kalēju iela 43, Riga, lv-1050, latvia.

established to cater the needs of both individual and corporate customers, JSC “Baltic international Bank” 
(hereinafter referred to as the Bank) provides a comprehensive range of financial services: personal and corporate 
loans, acceptance of money deposits and other funds, funds transfers, treasury and capital market services carried out 
according to customer instructions and for the Bank’s own trading purposes.

The financial and Capital market Commission (referred to herein as the Commission) is an integrated financial 
supervisory institution for all financial services including banking, the stock-market, and insurance. The aim of the 
Commission is to provide protection of interests of investors and depositors and to ensure development and stability 
of the financial and capital market.

 

2. aCCoUntinG PolICIes and the PrInCIPles of assessMenT

Statement of Compliance  
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international financial Reporting Standards 

(“ifRS”) as adopted by the european union (the eu) and in accordance with the requirements of the latvian financial 
and Capital market Commission.

The presentation of financial statements in conformity with ifRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
as of the date of the financial statements and their reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. actual results could differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period, in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. Judgments made by management in the application of ifRSs that have significant effect 
on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year relate to loan 
loss impairment allowances.

Basis of preparation 
The financial statements are presented in latvian lat, unless indicated otherwise. The functional currency of the 

Bank is latvian lat.
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis for assets and liabilities except for the 

following: investment property valued at fair value, derivative financial instruments, financial assets and liabilities 
carried at fair value through profit and loss account, and available for sale assets except those whose fair value cannot 
be reliably estimated. other financial assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities are carried at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

The financial statements have been prepared using accounting principles consistent with those used in the prior year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2007

Foreign currency translation 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency (latvian lats) at 

the official Bank of latvia exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into latvian lats according to the official Bank of latvia exchange 
rates prevailing at the end of the period. non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that 
are measured at fair value or cost are retranslated at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value or cost was 
determined.

profit or loss relating to fluctuations in the exchange rate on monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a 
foreign currency are recognized in the income statement in the period in which the fluctuation occurs.

Currency name 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

1 ByR = lvl 0.000225 lvl 0.000250

1 euR = lvl 0.702804 lvl 0.702804

1 gBp = lvl 0.963000 lvl 1.048000

1 RuB = lvl 0.019700 lvl 0.020300

1 uSd = lvl 0.484000 lvl 0.536000

accounting for income and expenses 
all interest income and expenses are recognised in the financial statements on an accruals basis. interest income 

and expense are recognised in the income statement for all instruments measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Commission fee income and expenses on non-recurring services are recognized on 
the transaction date on the accrual basis if their receipt is deferred. Commission fee income and expenses on services 
provided or received in a certain period of time are accrued and allocated to the income statement over the period of 
the respective agreement.

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial 
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability.

The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial asset and liability and is not revised 
subsequently. when calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual 
terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract, transaction costs and all 
other premiums or discounts that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. transaction costs are incremental 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or liability. once a financial 
asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income 
is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2007

Debt securities and equity shares  
Securities owned by the Bank are categorized into portfolios in accordance with the Bank’s intent at the time of the 

acquisition of the securities and pursuant to the Bank’s security investment strategy. The Bank developed a security 
investment strategy and, reflecting the intent of the acquisition, allocated securities to “Securities held to maturity”, 
«financial assets at fair value through profit or loss», “Securities held for trading” and “Securities available for sale”.

all financial instruments held by the Bank are recognized at trade date and are initially measured at fair value plus 
for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss any directly attributable transaction cost.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are those that have been designated by the Bank 

at inception as at fair value through profit or loss and those classified as held for trading. held for trading instruments 
are securities and shares that the Bank principally holds for the purpose of reselling and generating a profit from 
short-term fluctuations in the prices of the instruments.

Financial assets held for trading
held for trading instruments are securities and shares that the Bank principally holds for the purpose of reselling 

and generating a profit as net trading income or net trading loss, respectively. Securities held for trading are initially 
recognized at fair value excluding transaction costs and subsequently re-measured to fair value based on market 
prices. Realized and unrealized gains or losses are recorded as net trading income or net trading loss, respectively.

derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedging instruments for hedge 
accounting purposes. during 2007, the Bank did not apply hedge accounting.

associates
associates are those enterprises in which the Bank has significant influence, but not control, over the financial 

and operating policies. in the Bank’s financial statements investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method and are initially recognized at cost. The investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Derivative financial instruments
financial derivatives, including over-the-counter (otC) foreign-exchange derivatives (currency forwards 

and swaps), are initially accounted as at their fair values. financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from re-
measuring each individual derivative financial instrument at its fair value are recorded on the balance sheet as assets 
or liabilities, whichever is appropriate. derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. The fair value of 
financial derivatives is recorded in the balance sheet under item «derivative financial instruments». Changes in the fair 
value of these derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the income statement on an every-day basis.

Securities available for sale
Securities available for sale are acquired to be held for an indefinite period of time. Securities, whose quoted market 

value is not determined in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, are carried at acquisition 
cost. all other securities available-for-sale are carried at fair value. gains or losses resulting from the change in fair value 
of available-for-sale securities are recognized directly in equity, except for impairment losses until the financial asset is 
derecognized; thereafter, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is recognized in profit or loss.
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for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2007

Securities held to maturity
Securities held to maturity include government securities and corporate bonds, which are carried at amortized 

cost and with respect to which the Bank has a positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. Securities held to maturity 
are accounted for using a settlement date basis for purchases. initially, held-to-maturity securities are recorded at 
their purchase value adjusted for discounts or premiums. Subsequently the effective interest rate method is applied 
for amortizing discounts over the term to maturity.

Loans
loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market, other than (a) those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short- term, (b) those 
that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at the fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale; or 
(c) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investments, other than because of credit 
deterioration.

loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
when a loan is uncollectible it is written off against the related impairment allowance; subsequent recoveries are 

credited to the impairment loss expense in the income statement.

impairment of financial assets
The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group 

of financial assets is impaired. 
The Bank first assesses whether any objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that 

are individually significant and for all loans with overdue principal repayments or interest regardless of the size of the 
outstanding principal. assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or 
continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment; such a collective assessment is 
carried out to identify the risk of impairment.

for the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar 
credit risk characteristics mainly based on collateral type.

whenever there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or securities held to 
maturity carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset's carrying amount and estimated present value of future cash flows. as the Bank’s loan portfolio predominantly 
comprises loans secured by real estate, the Bank uses discounted collateral realization value as an approximation of 
the present value of future cash flows.

The carrying amount of assets is reduced through the use of an allowance and the increase/decrease in the amount 
of the impairment loss is recognized in the income statement.

off-balance sheet exposures
as a part of its routine business function, the Bank engages in off-balance sheet arrangements associated with 

lending, issuing bank guarantees and opening letters of credit. These financial transactions are recorded in the 
financial statements as at the effective date of the relevant agreement.
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intangible assets
The Bank’s intangible assets comprise licenses, which allow the Bank to carry on banking business, and computer 

software. The intangible assets are accounted for at their historical cost less amortization. intangible assets amortization 
term is determined by the Bank based on the intangible asset’s useful life, if any; in the event that such a term is not 
stated, the Bank amortizes the intangible asset over a period of 5 years. The Bank applies the straight-line method of 
amortization of intangible assets.

property, plant and equipment
property, plant and equipment are recorded in the Bank’s financial statements at their historical cost less 

accumulated depreciation.
 depreciation periods for individual categories of assets are as follows: 
 Buildings   50 years
 machinery    5 years 
 motor vehicles    5 years 
 other tangible fixed assets  10 years 
 Computers    5 years

land and assets under construction are not depreciated. Costs relating to the maintenance and repair of the 
Bank’s property, plant and equipment are included in the income statement when they arise. whenever a complete 
repair and renovation prolong the asset’s useful life (change the value of the asset), then the repair and renovation 
expenditure amount is added to the fixed asset’s carrying amount. 

depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are revised annually.

investment property
investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not 

for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the supply of services or for administrative purposes.
when the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, its fair value at the 

date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting. investment property is initially recognized in the 
balance sheet at its acquisition cost. Subsequently, the investment property is revaluated and accounted for at its fair 
value based on its market price. fair market value for land plots, buildings and other real property items is determined 
on the basis of annual property appraisals from certified appraisers. gain or loss from the change in the value is 
recorded in the income statement and reported under the item “gain or loss on revaluation of investment property”.

repo operations (repos)
Securities sold under repurchase agreements (repos) are recorded in the financial statements along with other 

securities, while the Bank’s commitments are included in the respective items in the liabilities-side of the balance 
sheet, as “due to credit institutions” or “deposits” depending on the agreement’s characteristics.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash and deposits with the Bank of latvia and other credit institutions with 

a maturity of less than 3 months, less balances due to the Bank of latvia and credit institutions with a maturity of less 
than 3 months.
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Debt securities in issue
debt securities in issue include bills of exchange/promissory notes issued by the Bank. debt securities are initially 

measured at fair value of consideration received less transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortized 
cost using the effective interest method.

Corporate income tax
Corporate income tax comprises current and deferred tax. income tax expense is recognized in the income 

statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in 
equity.

Corporate income tax in the Republic of latvia is a direct tax based on the taxable profit reported for the taxation 
period, which is collected at the rate of 15%. deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for tax purposes. The amount of deferred tax recognized is based on the expected manner of realization 
as settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. The principal temporary differences arise from the differing rates and methods used for accounting 
and tax depreciation on property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, accruals, investment property and collective 
portfolio impairment loss. deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgement
The Bank makes various estimates to determine the value of certain assets and liabilities. when the value of loans 

as well as other financial assets, for which loss events have occurred, is tested for impairment, an estimate is made of 
when in the future and in which amount relevant cash inflow will occur. The measurement of financial instruments is 
described in note 2 accounting policies and the principles of assessment.

provisions
provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and 
a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 

is provided. all provision is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus of profit 
sharing plans if the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

The provision for employee holiday pay is calculated for each Bank employee based on the total number of holidays 
earned but not taken, multiplied by the average daily remuneration expense for the preceding six months, to which 
the relevant social security expense is added.

new standards and interpretations not yet effective
a number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 

31 december 2007, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements:
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 • IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions requires a share-based payment arrangement in 
which an entity receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity-instruments to be accounted for as 
an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, regardless of how the equity instruments needed are obtained. 
it also provides guidance on whether share-based payment arrangements, in which suppliers of goods or services 
of an entity are provided with equity instruments of the entity’s parent, should be accounted for as cash-settled or 
equity-settled in the entity’s financial statements. ifRiC 11 is not relevant to the Bank’s operations as the Bank has not 
entered into any share-based payments arrangements.

• IFRS 2 – Share-based Payment the revised Standard will clarify the definition of vesting conditions and non-
vesting conditions. Revised ifRS 2 is not relevant to the Bank’s operations as the Bank does not have any share-based 
compensation plans.

• IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Arrangements provides guidance to private sector entities on certain recognition 
and measurement issues that arise in accounting for public-to-private service concession arrangements. ifRiC 12 is 
not relevant to the Bank’s operations as the Bank has not entered into any service concession arrangements.

• IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes addresses the accounting by entities that operate, or otherwise 
participate in, customer loyalty programmes for their customers. it relates to customer loyalty programmes under 
which the customer can redeem credits for awards such as free or discounted goods or services. ifRiC 13 is not 
relevant to the Bank’s operations as the Bank does not have such customer loyalty programmes.

• Revised IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs removes the option to expense borrowing costs and requires that an entity 
capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as 
part of the cost of that asset. Revised iaS 23 is not relevant to the Bank’s operations as the Bank has not entered into 
any acquisition, construction or production, for which specific borrowing would be attracted.

• IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The limit on a defined Benefit Asset, Minimum funding Requirements and their interaction 
clarifies when refunds or reductions in future contributions in relation to defined assets should be regarded as 
available and provides guidance on the impact of minimum funding requirements (mfR) on such assets. ifRiC 14 is 
not relevant to the Bank’s operations as the Bank has not entered into long term employee benefit plans.

• IFRS 3 – Business Combinations has been amended and the definition of a business has been expanded, while 
introducing also other significant changes to the standard for accounting of business combinations. Revised ifRS 3 
is not relevant to the Bank’s operations as the Bank does not have any interests in subsidiaries that will be affected by 
the revisions to the Standard.

• IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements revised Standard requires information in financial statements to be 
aggregated on the basis of shared characteristics and introduces a statement of comprehensive income. The Bank is 
currently evaluating whether to present a single statement of comprehensive income, or two separate statements.

• IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements in the revised Standard the term minority interest has 
been replaced by non-controlling interest, and is defined as «the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or 
indirectly, to a parent». Revised iaS 27 is not relevant to the Bank’s operations as the Bank does not have any interests 
in subsidiaries that will be affected by the revisions to the Standard.

 • IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires segment disclosure based on the components of the entity that management 
monitors in making decisions about operating matters. operating segments are components of an entity about which 
separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding 
how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. ifRS 8 is not relevant to the Bank.
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Fair value measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
a number of the Bank’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value for financial 

assets and liabilities. The methods described below have been used for the determination of fair values. when applicable, 
further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the respective notes.

Due from other credit institutions
The fair value of placements on demand, overnight deposits and floating rate placements is their carrying amount. 

The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-
market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.

Loans to customers
The estimated fair value of loans represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be 

received. The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows are based on the prevailing money- market interest 
rates curve plus an adequate credit spread.

Shares and other securities with non-fixed income
The fair value of shares and other securities with non-fixed income is determined by reference to their quoted bid 

price at the reporting date, if available. for a non-material amount of non-listed shares, where disposal is limited, the 
assumption was made that the reliable estimate of fair value is not possible.

The fair value of S.w.i.f.t shares was determined based on the “transfer amount” approved for the respective year 
by the shareholders’ meeting, that represents the price for new share allocation and participants quit price.

Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of currency swaps is estimated by discounting the contractual cash flows to be received and to 

be paid in appropriate foreign currencies for the residual maturity, and translating the difference of the discounted 
cash flows into lats, applying exchange rate set by Bank of latvia. euRiBoR and liBoR interest rates are used as 
benchmark for risk-free interest rate for discounting purposes.

Due to other credit institutions and customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the 

amount repayable on demand. The estimated fair value of overnight deposits is their carrying amount. The estimated 
fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits not quoted in the active market is based on discounted cash flows using 
interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity.
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3  rIsk ManaGeMenT

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial and non-financial risks and those activities involve the 
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. taking risks is core 
to the financial business, and these risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The Bank’s strategic aim 
is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effect on the 
Bank’s financial performance.

Risk management system, being an integral part of internal control system of the Bank, is based on the principal 
requirements of effective supervision of banks by financial and Capital market Commission and Basle Bank’s 
supervising committee.

The most important types of risk are reputational risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange 
risk and operational risk. The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the 
environment, technology and industry. They are monitored through the Bank’s strategic planning process.

Risk management in the Bank is centralised and is carried out by the Board under policies approved by Supervisory 
Council. Risk management polices are subject to yearly review. There are three committees in the Bank responsible 
for risk management - the Credit Committee, the Resources Supervision Committee and Customer due diligence 
Committee. in addition, internal audit is responsible for the independent review of risk management and control 
environment.

The Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify, analyse and measure significant risks, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risk and adherence to limits by means of reliable and un-to-
date management information system. as of 1 January 2008, the Bank has implemented the eu directive 2006/48/
eC relating to the taking up and pursuit of the business of credit institutions and the eu directive 2006/49/eC on the 
capital adequacy of investment firms and credit institutions relating to the improvement of the internal control system 
and risk management, as well as implemented Basel ii accord requirements introduced by the Basel Committee on 
Banking Supervision.

reputational risk
Banks are inherently at risk for potential money laundering and the financing of terrorism, and this factor poses 

a serious threat to corporate reputation, unless banks ensure an adequate level of due diligence to be able to identify, 
monitor and avoid reputational risk. The Bank therefore develops and consequently implements its internal policies 
and procedures in order to comply with the guidelines and requirements outlined in international and domestic 
regulatory documents:

 1. valid laws and legislative decrees of the Republic of latvia
 2. guidelines and recommended standards adopted by the financial and Capital market Commission 
  and the association of latvian Commercial Banks
 3. global anti-money laundering/Counter-financing of terrorism (aml/Cft) policies and regulations
 4. international best practices.
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The Bank's aml/Cft and Know your Сustomer (KyC) policies and procedures provide guidelines for:
 1. performing customer due diligence (Cdd) through identification and verification processes
 2. on-going supervision and monitoring of customer’s business activities
 3. Carrying out customer’s business process analysis (Bpa)
 4. identifying suspicious and unusual financial transactions; filing suspicious activity reports (SaRs) 
      to investigative, law enforcement and judicial authorities
 5. Retaining of the information concerning Bank’s customers and their business and financial activity
 6. employee training sessions.

during 2007 the bank has carried out an additional analysis of risks associated with activity in private banking 
and improved its policies and procedures in order to mitigate the risks identified.

Credit risk
The Bank takes on exposures to credit risk, which is the risk that counterparty will cause a financial loss for the 

bank by failing to discharge a contractual obligation. Credit risk is the most significant risk for the Bank’s business and 
therefore exposures to credit risk are subject to careful management.

Sources of credit risk
Credit risk of the Bank arises principally from the placements with credit institutions as well from lending activities 

and transactions in derivative financial instruments. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments 
such as letters of credit, guarantees and payment cards’ overdraft commitments. There is a delivery risk in relation to 
foreign exchange transactions.

for the Bank as a payment bank, exposure to credit risk may interfere with liquidity management activities as the 
Bank should maintain sufficient funds on accounts with principal correspondents to provide necessary customers’ 
payments, which sometimes causes significant concentrations with particular counterparties.

Management and control of credit exposures
The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk whenever they are identified – in particular, 

to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries and countries.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in 
relation to one counterparty, or group of counterparties, and to geographical and industry segments. Such limits are 
monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary.

exposures to credit risk are managed through regular analysis of the ability of the existing and potential borrowers 
and counterparties to meet interest and principal repayment obligations and by changing lending limits where 
appropriate. The financial analysis, the analysis of external ratings and analysis of business environment of borrowers 
and counterparties is taken into consideration for such decision-making.

The Bank uses different credit risk management techniques for credit institutions and non-banks, but techniques 
are applied consistently to all financial instruments used, including both balance-sheet and off- balance sheet 
exposures with particular counterparty or group of related counterparties, as well as delivery risk in relation to foreign 
exchange transactions.
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limits on exposures to credit institutions are set by Resources Supervision Committee and approved by the 
management Board. limits on exposures to non-banks are considered by Credit Committee and approved by the 
management Board or Supervisory Council according to the approval authorities.

exposures to related groups of counterparties and counterparties related to the Bank are also subject to regulatory 
requirements. according to regulations, any credit risk exposure to a non-related counterparty may not exceed 25% 
of the Bank’s equity. Regulation states though that some exposures, such as due from credit institutions with maturity 
up to 1 year, are not considered to be credit risk exposures for regulatory requirements noted above.

according to regulations the total credit risk exposures to parties related to Bank shall not exceed 15% of the 
Bank’s equity.

Credit risk mitigation policies
The Bank employs a range of credit risk mitigation techniques. The most traditional of these is taking security for 

funds disbursements, which is common practice. The bank implements guidelines on the criteria for specific classes 
of collateral taken. The amount of collateral required may vary depending on type of exposure but usually it is set at 
least to cover principal amount of the outstanding debt.

The Bank’s exposures to credit institutions are usually unsecured.

Quantitative disclosures
further quantitative disclosures in respect of credit risk are presented in note 47.

Liquidity risk
liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial 

liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure to 
meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil commitments to lend.

Liquidity risk management process
liquidity risk management guidelines are set in the Bank’s liquidity management policy and are controlled by the 

Resources Supervision Committee while daily monitoring is effected by the Risk Control department.
The policy states that the Bank is obliged to hold sufficient liquid assets reserve to meet its financial commitments, 

however not less than 30% of the Bank’s total current liabilities.
The Bank's liquidity ratio as at 31 december 2007 was 69.5%, compared to 59.13% as at 31 december 2006.
The following techniques are used to manage liquidity:
 • Day-to-day monitoring of customers’ cash flows, debt maturity profile 
    and Bank’s commitments in principal currencies.
 • Monitoring of liabilities concentration by single customer and group of related customers.
 • Maintaining sufficient liquidity as balances on correspondent accounts and short-term 
    inter-bank placements to ensure that financial liabilities can be met.
 • Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements.
 • Monitoring term structure of assets and liabilities, which includes the impact of contingent liabilities 
    such as letters of credits, guarantees and unused loan commitments.
 • Planning the sources of liquidity such as borrowings and currency swaps for unforeseen liquidity needs.
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monitoring and reporting take form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day and month 
respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for these projections is an analysis 
of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection data of the financial assets.

daily projections are based on assets and liabilities contractual maturities monitoring and analysis of information 
concerning customers’ incoming and outgoing payments. monthly projections are based on assets and liabilities term 
structure analysis.

Quantitative disclosures
further quantitative disclosures in respect of liquidity risk are presented in note 42.

Currency (foreign exchange) risk
foreign exchange risk relates to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on the 

Bank’s financial position and cash flows.

Foreign exchange risk management process
Currency risk management policy determines and regulates risk control and regulatory principles related to the 

currency exchange transactions that helps the Bank in controlling its foreign currency open positions.
limits on open foreign currency positions in a single currency and aggregate open foreign currency position are 

set for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.
The Credit institution law states that the open position in each separate currency must not exceed 10% of the 

Bank’s equity and the aggregate open position in all foreign currencies must not exceed 20% of the Bank’s equity.
Quantitative disclosures
further quantitative disclosures in respect of foreign exchange risk are presented in note 43.

interest rate risk
interest rate risk represents the risk that there may be changes in the future cash flows connected with financial 

instruments (cash flow interest rate risk) or fair value of financial instruments (fair value interest rate risk) resulting 
from changes in the interest rates on the market. The period when interest rate of the financial instruments is constant 
determines how it is exposed to the interest rate risk.

Sources of interest rate risk
The Bank is exposed to the cash flow interest rate risk which represents the effect of changes in the interest rates on 

the Bank's net interest margin and the amount of net interest income due to inadequate term structure of interest rate 
sensitive assets and liabilities. The Bank is not exposed to interest rate risk of the fair value of financial instruments.

Interest risk management process
interest rate risk management policy states the management principles, methodology and types of interest rate 

risk management.

Quantitative disclosures
further quantitative disclosures in respect of interest risk are presented in note 44.
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Capital management
The bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept as the “equity” on the face of balance 

sheet, are:
 • To comply with the capital regulatory requirements.
 • To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 
    to provide returns for shareholders.
 • To maintain the strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Bank’s management, employing 
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and the european Community directives, as 
implemented by the financial and Capital market Commission. The required information is filed with the financial 
and Capital market Commission on a monthly basis.

The Credit institution law and regulations developed by the financial and Capital market Commission for 
application of the norms of this law, require latvian banks to maintain a capital adequacy ratio of 8%, i.e., Bank’s 
capital ratio against the risk weighted assets and memorandum items and the sum of notional risk weighted assets 
and memorandum items. The sum of notional risk weighted assets and memorandum items is determined as the sum 
of capital requirements of market risks, multiplied by 12.5.

The guidelines of the financial and Capital market Commission for calculation of capital adequacy basically agree 
to the recommendations under the Basle Capital accord and amendments thereto. according to the Basle Capital 
accord, the capital adequacy ratio should be at least 8%.

Quantitative disclosures
further quantitative disclosures in respect of capital management are presented in note 41.

Market risk
The Bank focuses a lot of attention on the monitoring and analysis of market risk. The Bank has adopted its 

trading portfolio policy designed to define the structure of the Bank’s trading portfolio and to set out the maximum 
effective open position transacted with an individual issuer and the limits by the maturity profile of the securities. The 
Resources Supervision Committee is charged with the responsibility of implementing the trading portfolio policy. 
The internal audit department is charged with a continuing control function.

Operational risk
operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 

and systems or from external events - various types of human (staff members) or technical (software and hardware 
failures) errors, contingencies, fire and other factors of this sort. to prevent losses caused by operational risk, the 
Bank has adopted internal guidance documents, such as the internal by-law, fire safety regulations, technical system 
and facility safety regulations, information classification rules and other rules, regulations and directives. The Bank’s 
Board has appointed a task force whose task is to ensure the implementation of the regulatory requirements set forth 
in the aforesaid internal guidance documents.
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4. InTereST InCoMe
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

loans 5 012 047 3 696 773

Loans 3 005 948 2 342 439

Due from credit institutions 1 988 094 1 339 401

Payment cards 18 005 14 933

Securities held for trading 364 246 344 941

Securities held to maturity 251 660 31 741

5 627 953 4 073 455

5. InTereST eXPense
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

liabilities at amortized cost

Deposits 1 455 040 961 219

Due to credit institutions 192 427 75 411

Debt securities 54 667 65 591

Subordinated liabilities 502 1 452

1 702 636 1 103 673

6. fee and CoMMIssIon InCoMe
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Servicing of transactions 2 308 946 1 959 776

payment cards 125 416 96 876

fees and commissions from banks 108 454 99 317

forex transactions 99 628 76 556

trust operations 65 370 76 204

guarantees 46 244 46 770

Securities accounts administration charges 19 877 9 563

Cash operations 18 070 16 929

letters of credit 7 465 6 717

2 799 470 2 388 708

 
7. fee and CoMMIssIon eXPense

31.12.2007 
LvL

31.12.2006 
LvL

Services of correspondent banks 734 875 770 157

Services of agents and brokers 66 795 146 499

payment cards 62 017 23 907

Securities-based transactions 24 951 22 466

other 22 223 11 497

910 861 974 526
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8.  neT TradInG InCoMe
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

gain on foreign exchange operations 456 341 243 704

gain on revaluation of positions in foreign currency 305 009 1 191 204

gain on trading in financial instruments 268 609 165 136

loss on revaluation of financial instruments (235 595) (108 354)

794 364 1 491 690

9.  other oPeratinG InCoMe
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

gain on sale of property, plant and equipment and investment property 173 252 823 575

other 9 127 10 103

182 379 833 678

10. adMInISTratiVe eXPenses
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Staff salaries 2 079 276 1 314 779

professional services 462 303 371 742

Social insurance payments 399 444 285 271

non-deductible input vat 365 307 82 986

lease, renovation and maintenance of property, plant and equipment 256 260 243 692

Communication 204 487 190 738

Representation expenses 170 796 99 202

Business trips 131 264 131 436

Stationary goods and household equipment 67 323 43 073

motor vehicles 61 955 52 288

payment cards-related expenses 29 770 26 967

Real estate tax 20 987 47 982

Security 7 271 6 806

land-rent tax 949 930

other 223 438 231 381

4 480 830 3 129 273
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11. other oPeratinG eXPenses
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

advertising and publicity 156 730 19 407

association membership fees 78 274 74 600

penalties paid 1 089 147

loss from selling property, plant and equipment 962 -

other 5 608 32 246

242 663 126 400

12. analYsIs of ChanGes In IMPaIrMenT loss alLoWanCe for asseTs 
 and off BaLAnCe sheeT eXPosUres

allowances for 
losses on loans 

LvL

allowances  
for claims on the 

credit institutions 
LvL

allowances  
for other assets 

LvL

allowances
for off- balance 
sheet exposures  

LvL
total 
LvL

allowances  
31 December 2005 927 786 102 15 110 - 942 998

amounts written-off (93 123) - (72) - (93 195)

increase in allowances 545 054 - 20 970 39 123 605 147

Release from allowances (96 069) - - (1 347) (97 416)

difference due to fluctuations 
in foreign exchange rates (70 983) 3 (1 453) (576) (73 009)

allowances  
31 December 2006 1 212 665 105 34 555 37 200 1 284 525

amounts written-off (1 880) (100) (34 759) - (36 739)

increase in allowances 208 672 - 14 986 - 223 658

Release from allowances (71 666) - - (37 200) (108 866)

difference due to fluctuations 
in foreign exchange rates (47 006) (5) 204 - (46 807)

allowances  
31 December 2007 1 300 785 - 14 986 - 1 315 771

13. GaIn on reValUation of InVeSTMenT ProPerTY
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

fair value adjustment (note 26) 298 398 619 640

298 398 619 640
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14. CorPoraTe InCoMe TaX
a) income tax charge

 
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Corporate income tax expense 253 100 364 964

prior year tax adjustment (27 879) -

deferred income tax expense 18 860 54 388

244 081 419 352

 

b) reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit

 
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

profit before taxation 1 740 011 3 345 717

Theoretically calculated tax at tax rate of 15% 261 002 501 858

expenses not deductible for tax purposes 31 622 24 958

exempt income (42 720) (65 855)

Relief for donations (10 871) (41 609)

non-deductible expenses 32 927 -

prior year tax adjustment (27 879) -

income tax expense 244 081 419 352

c) Deferred taxes

31.12.2007 
LvL

31.12.2006 
LvL

temporary differences in depreciation of property, plant and equipment (164 182) (139 172)

temporary differences resulting from revaluation of investment property (105 731) (92 946)

temporary differences in vacation accruals 30 763 16 217

temporary differences resulting from remeasuring assets 6 670 2 281

Deferred tax liabilities (232 480) (213 620)

15. TaXes and soCIal InsUranCe PaYMenTs
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Social tax 554 343 378 462

personnel income tax 422 873 248 105

Real property tax 25 873 43 108

Corporate tax withheld from non-residents 18 154 10 154

enterprise risk duty 534 530

income tax withheld from non-residents - 540

value added tax - 108 892

total taxes paid 1 021 777 789 791
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16. Cash and BaLAnCes WIth the CenTral Bank
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Cash 886 375 956 499

Balance with the Bank of latvia 7 536 493 5 694 270

accrued income on balance with the Bank of latvia 2 920 2 411

8 425 788 6 653 180

The Bank is required to ensure that the monthly average balance (in lats) with the Bank of latvia exceeds the statutory reserve requirement 

ratio for commercial banks. as at the reporting date the Bank has complied with the reserve requirements of the Bank of latvia.

The reserve requirement amounted to lvl 6 569 011 (2006: lvl 5 339 282) at the end of the year.

17. Cash and Cash eQUIValenTs
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Cash 886 375 956 499

Balance with the Bank of latvia 7 536 493 5 694 270

8 422 868 6 650 769

due from other credit institutions with up to 3 months remaining maturity 48 839 792 20 198 170

due to other credit institutions with up to 3 months remaining maturity (2 634 190) (1 572 089)

allowances (note 12) - (105)

54 628 470 25 276 745

18. dUe froM CredIT InSTITUtions
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Repayable on demand 43 514 183 15 903 695

other claims 6 440 314 5 488 052

49 954 497 21 391 747

allowances (note 12) - (105)

49 954 497 21 391 642

The table below shows the geographical concentration of claims on credit institutions:

31.12.2007 
LvL

31.12.2006 
LvL

due from credit institutions incorporated in the Republic of latvia 3 031 301 2 309 771

due from credit institutions incorporated in oeCd countries 41 820 006 13 515 365

due from credit institutions incorporated in other countries 5 103 190 5 566 611

49 954 497 21 391 747

allowances (note 12) - (105)

49 954 497 21 391 642
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19. seCUrIties held for TradInG
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

total debt securities 4 280 772 6 102 716

Government treasury bills 110 175 206 643

Bonds of other issuers and other fixed-income securities 4 170 597 5 896 073

Shares and other variable income securities 1 281 162 1 153 354

5 561 934 7 256 070

The table below shows the securities recorded by issuer profile:

31.12.2007 
LvL

31.12.2006 
LvL

debt securities of financial institutions 3 143 763 4 005 984

debt securities of credit institutions 811 203 1 444 364

debt securities of private enterprises 215 631 445 725

debt securities of central governments 110 175 206 643

total debt securities 4 280 772 6 102 716

Shares of private enterprises 938 579 922 933

Shares of credit institutions 310 011 7 952

Shares of financial institutions 32 572 222 469

total shares 1 281 162 1 153 354

5 561 934 7 256 070

as of 31 december 2007, debt securities with a total book value of lvl 454 912 (as of 31 december 2006: lvl 1 658 125) were pledged 

as collateral for repo loans totaling lvl 383 973 (as of 31 december 2006: lvl 1 686 896).
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20. derIVatiVe ConTraCTs
31.12.2007

assets
LvL

31.12.2007
Liabilities

LvL

31.12.2006
assets

LvL

31.12.2006
Liabilities

LvL

notional amount

foreign currency exchange Swap transactions
161 066 322 161 072 420 27 543 278 27 342 750

161 066 322 161 072 420 27 543 278 27 342 750

Fair value

foreign currency exchange Swap transactions
739 462 740 557 241 265 56 721

739 462 740 557 241 265 56 721

21. seCUrIties aVaILABle for sale 

Company 
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

JSC “Capital” 127 111 127 111

S.w.i.f.t. SCRl 42 520 42 520

llC “BiB Real eState” 4 000 4 000

173 631 173 631

22. seCUrIties held To MaTUrITY 
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

government treasury bills - 101 756

Bonds of other issuers and other fixed-income securities 4 332 116 1 492 793

4 332 116 1 594 549

The following table shows the distribution of securities held to maturity by issuer profile:

31.12.2007 
LvL

31.12.2006 
LvL

debt securities of credit institutions 3 242 967 1 140 109

debt securities of private enterprises 600 686 -

debt securities of financial institutions 488 463 352 684

debt securities of central governments - 101 756

4 332 116 1 594 549
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23. loans 

( a ) Loans by type
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

mortgage loans 16 895 462 12 603 257

Commercial loans 10 043 947 7 458 408

overdrafts 1 609 713 629 150

Consumer loans 1 477 425 2 784 677

industrial loans 947 191 3 733 471

Reverse repos 809 466 296 510

payment cards 69 911 85 956

finance leasing 4 892 8 110

other 4 001 129 5 012 777

35 859 136 32 612 316

allowances (note 12) (1 300 785) (1 212 665)

34 558 351 31 399 651

( b ) Loan profile by geographic locale
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Residents of the Republic of latvia 25 731 277 21 712 820

Residents of eu countries 3 919 271 2 933 867

Residents of other oeCd countries 4 022 513 2 842 210

Residents of CiS countries 885 233 506 193

Residents of other countries 1 300 842 4 617 226

35 859 136 32 612 316

allowances (note 12) (1 300 785) (1 212 665)

34 558 351 31 399 651

( c ) Loans by customer profile 
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

loans to private companies 28 647 338 25 848 685

loans to private individuals 4 980 600 5 049 294

loans to financial institutions 1 313 617 1 080 714

loans to senior management and staff members 917 581 633 623

35 859 136 32 612 316

allowances (note 12) (1 300 785) (1 212 665)

34 558 351 31 399 651

( d ) Loans by terms of maturity
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

up to 1 month (inclusive) 3 557 701 1 794 119

1 to 3 months 95 612 26 835

3 to 6 months 26 353 509 712

6 to 12 months 2 438 921 1 005 337

1 to 5 years 25 550 458 25 867 244

more than 5 years 4 190 091 3 409 069

35 859 136 32 612 316

allowances (note 12) (1 300 785) (1 212 665)

34 558 351 31 399 651
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( e ) Breakdown of delinquent loаns by groups of delayed payments and non-delinquent loans

Loans
31.12.2007

LvL

Collateral
31.12.2007

LvL

Loans
31.12.2006

LvL

Collateral
31.12.2006

LvL

non-delinquent loans 34 060 330 57 582 478 30 733 481 77 066 524

up to 1 month (inclusive) 581 389 918 149 813 424 1 373 435

1 to 3 months 139 338 214 776 436 714 405 025

3 to 6 months 234 764 324 062 121 431 87 407

6 to 12 months 72 090 53 669 27 700 -

more than 12 month 771 225 1 546 240 479 566 1 482 959

35 859 136 60 639 374 32 612 316 80 415 350

allowances (note 12) (1 300 785) - (1 212 665) -

34 558 351 60 639 374 31 399 651 80 415 350

24.  InTanGIBle asseTs 
LvL

acquisition cost

as of 31 December 2005 311 643

additions 88 596

disposals (43 745)

adjustments (11 427)

as of 31 December 2006 345 067

additions 600 149

disposals (80 940)

as of 31 December 2007 864 276

amortization

as of 31 December 2005 (134 462)

amortization (43 745)

disposals 43 745

as of 31 December 2006 (134 462)

amortization (45 513)

disposals 80 940

as of 31 December 2007 (99 035)

net book value

as of 31 December 2005 177 181

as of 31 December 2006 210 605

as of 31 December 2007 765 241
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25.  ProPerTY, PLAnT and eQUIPMenT
Buildings 
and land 

(in own use) 
LvL

Leasehold 
improve- 

ments 
LvL

Motor 
vehicles  

LvL

office 
equipment 

LvL

Constructions 
in progress 

LvL
total 
LvL

acquisition cost

as of 31 December 2005 258 962 446 328 172 094 944 002 23 388 1 844 774

additions 711 546 35 806 95 095 136 410 671 461 1 650 318

disposals - - (10 207) (145 665) - (155 872)

Reclassification (note 26) 1 465 000 - - - - 1 465 000

as of 31 December 2006 2 435 508 482 134 256 982 934 747 694 849 4 804 220

additions - - - 966 995 2 863 439 3 830 434

disposals - - (89 661) (88 646) - (178 307)

Reclassification (note 26) 130 000 - - - - 130 000

as of 31 December 2007 2 565 508 482 134 167 321 1 813 096 3 558 288 8 586 347

depreciation

as of 31 December 2005 (29 447) - (82 616) (479 611) - (591 674)

depreciation (5 181) - (44 676) (152 973) - (202 830)

disposals - - 8 943 145 666 - 154 609

as of 31 December 2006 (34 628) - (118 349) (486 918) - (639 895)

depreciation (40 891) (241 067) (45 043) (146 965) - (473 966)

disposals - - 75 155 88 517 - 163 672

as of 31 December 2007 (75 519) (241 067) (88 237) (545 366) - (950 189)

net book value

as of 31 December 2005 229 515 446 328 89 478 464 391 23 388 1 253 100

as of 31 December 2006 2 400 880 482 134 138 633 447 829 694 849 4 164 325

as of 31 December 2007 2 489 989 241 067 79 084 1 267 730 3 558 288 7 636 158
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26.  InVeSTMenT ProPerTY
31.12.2007 

LvL

as of 31 December 2005 1 465 000

additions 2 583 243

Revaluation (note 13) 619 640

Sale (1 197 579)

Reclassification * (1 465 000)

as of 31 December 2006 2 005 304

Revaluation (note 13) 298 398

Sale (599 764)

Reclassification * (130 000)

as of 31 December 2007 1 573 938

* The reclassification represents the effect of a decision by management to use certain assets (the bank-owned five-storey office building in 

Riga, grēcinieku iela 6 and residential apartment in Riga, Kalēju iela 45/47, 1) previously recognized as investment property, for the Bank’s 

own use, and have therefore been transferred to property, plant and equipment.

27.  InVeSTMenTs In assoCIaTes
ownership

%
Country of 

incorporation purpose
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

llC «Komunikācijas un projekti» 25 latvia investments 429 009 429 009

429 009 429 009

in September 2006, the Bank invested an amount of 429 009 lats in a 25 percent stake in Sia “Komunikācijas un 
projekti” (limited liability Company “Communications and projects”).
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28. deferred eXPenses and aCCrUed InCoMe 
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

deferred expenses 662 562 531 227

other accrued interest and other income 54 356 124 106

716 918 655 333

29. other asseTs 
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

unsettled spot forex transactions 1 102 371 414 339

tax overpayment 271 024 61 817

other accounts receivable 187 116 2 057 841

pre-payments 81 244 37 142

funds placed in guarantee funds 15 743 7 919

money in transit (replenishment of a correspondent account) 5 953 36 575

precious metals 3 839 3 589

pre-tax payment - 32 452

unidentified funds outflow from correspondent accounts - 21 251

others 50 120 -

allowances (note 12) (14 986) (34 555)

1 702 424 2 638 370



63

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2007

30. dUe To CredIT InSTITUtions and CenTral Bank
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Credit institutions incorporated in the Republic of latvia 2 596 416 607 898

Credit institutions incorporated in oeCd countries 391 935 1 393 563

Credit institutions incorporated in non-oeCd countries 147 909 110 300

3 136 260 2 111 761

31. dePosITs 
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

repayable at call

private companies 56 360 275 38 739 075

private individuals 2 882 773 3 353 862

financial institutions 579 653 14 179

State-owned companies 134 571 206 366

public organizations 1 044 1 780

municipalities - 1

59 958 316 42 315 263

term deposits 

private companies 26 774 462 14 744 266

private individuals 9 731 268 5 292 181

financial institutions 461 332 635 469

36 967 062 20 671 916

total deposits 96 925 378 62 987 179
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32. deBT seCUrIties In IssUe 
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

Bills of exchange 803 171 1 044 252

803 171 1 044 252

in 2007, an average annual interest rate of 5.55% was applied to the debt securities in issue (2006: 6.08%).

notional amount Coupon rate Maturity Date Book value, LvL

1 127 000 euR 5% 20.09.2007 803 171

33. aCCrUed eXPenses, ProVIsIons and deferred InCoMe
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

other accrued interest payable 38 883 31 419

provision for unused vacation 205 088 108 117

other accrued expense 293 496 636 869

deferred income 72 264 47 869

609 731 824 274

34. other lIaBIlIties
31.12.2007 

LvL
31.12.2006 

LvL

unsettled spot forex transactions 837 467 342 947

Suspense account 707 983 203 400

other accounts payable 324 095 204 367

allowance for off-balance sheet exposures (note 12) - 37 200

1 869 545 787 914
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35. sUBordInaTed lIaBIlIties

Subordinated deposits have a fixed term of seven-years at their origination, and are repayable before maturity, 
only on after winding up, or bankruptcy of the Bank and rank before shareholders claims.

Depositor Currency
amount  

in currency
interest 

rate 
repayment 

date
amount  

in LvL, 2007
amount  

in LvL, 2006

Belokon holdings uSd 25 000 0,00% 20.10.2008 12 100 13 400

vilmo line lvl 30 000 0,00% 12.01.2007 - 30 000

other - - - - 10 719 10 217

total 22 819 53 617

36. shareholders’ eQUITY 

The total authorized and paid-in share capital remained unchanged from 2006, and by the end of fiscal 2007 
was represented by 1 522 257 (one million five hundred twenty two thousand two hundred fifty seven) ordinary 
voting shares.

These are registered shares. each share carries the right to one vote at meetings of shareholders, a right to receive 
dividends as declared from time to time and a right to residual assets. each share having a par value of lvl 5.00 (five 
lats). The total par value of the shares equals lvl 7 611 285 (seven million six hundred eleven thousand two hundred 
eighty five lats). of the Bank’s 101 shareholders, 31 are legal entities and 70 are private individuals.

Reserve capital totaling lvl 545 024 is formed from the contributions made by the Bank’s shareholders. The 
bank's general meeting of Shareholders makes the decision concerning further usage of reserve capital. Reserve 
capital can be used to:

 – cover losses;
 – increase the share capital;
 – pay dividends.

listed below are the shareholders who control more than 10 percent of the shares in the shareholders’ equity:
     31.12.2007 31.12.2006
 valeri Belokon   40,8651% 37,2053%  
 viacheslav Kramnoy  27,9721% 27,9721%  
 vilori Belokon   12,1658% 12,1657%  
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37. off-BaLAnCe sheeT ITeMs

Sureties and guarantees, which represent irrevocable assurances and promise that the Bank will make payments to 
the beneficiary (third party) in the event that the obligor (customer) fails to honor his/her obligations to third parties, 
carry the same credit risk as loans.

Commitments to extend credit and liabilities for credit cards represent unused portions of authorizations to 
extend credit. with respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to a loss 
in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.

31.12.2007 
LvL

31.12.2006 
LvL

Sureties and guarantees 587 389 1 498 528

Commitments to customers 4 334 703 4 012 149

Commitments to extend credit 3 969 455 3 354 637

liabilities for credit cards 348 218 383 796

other liabilities 17 030 273 716

4 922 092 5 510 677

38. TrUST aGreeMenTs

The Bank enters into trust agreements with private individuals and legal entities, residents and non-residents 
of the Republic of latvia. The Bank accepts no risk for its trust operations; all risk is retained by its clients. as of 
31 december 2007, the Bank’s administered assets totaled lvl 31 332 156. as of 31 december 2006, the Bank’s 
administered assets stood at lvl 26 203 124.

39. InforMation on Bank’s STaff and reMUneration of the ManaGeMenT

in 2007, the Bank’s average staff complement grew to reach the figure 179 (in 2006 – 172). Remuneration to the 
Bank’s Council and Board members amounted to:

31.12.2007 
LvL

31.12.2006 
LvL

Council members 102 923 59 000

Board members 304 151 144 458

407 074 203 458
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40. reLATed ParTY TransaCTIons

Related parties are defined as shareholders who have significant influence over the Bank, companies in which they 
have a controlling interest, members of the Council and Board of directors, key management personnel, their close 
relatives and companies in which they have a controlling interest, as well as associated companies.

assets
average 

interest rate
amount 

LvL

off-balance 
sheet items 

LvL

total 
31.12.2007 

LvL

total 
31.12.2006 

LvL

loans, net - 781 906 167 882 949 788 2 282 234

Bank-related undertakings and individuals 6,02% 615 898 11 795 627 693 2 252 167

Council and Board 5,31% 204 083 155 517 359 600 67 572

Other senior executives - - 570 570 570

Allowances for losses on loans and advances - (38 075) - (38 075) (38 075)

Securities available for sale - 4 035 - 4 035 131 111

investments in associated - 429 009 - 429 009 429 009

other assets - 161 132 - 161 132 734

total assets and off-balance sheet liabilities - 1 376 082 167 882 1 543 964 2 843 088

Liabilities 

deposits deposited by related parties 3,44% 1 823 513 - 1 823 513 1 761 457

Subordinated liabilities 2,60% 22 819 - 22 819 20 568

total liabilities - 1 846 332 - 1 846 332 1 782 025

income

total 
31.12.2007 

LvL

total 
31.12.2006 

LvL

interest income 95 139 150 882

interest expense (68 704) (101 145)

net interest income 26 435 49 737

expense related to provisions for doubtful debts - (27 198)

result 26 435 22 539

all related party transactions are at arm’s length.



68

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2007

41. CaPITal adeQUaCY CalCULAtion

The Bank’s capital adequacy ratio reflects the capital level required for hedging against credit risk and market risk 
which the Bank’s assets and off-balance sheet liabilities are exposed to. Therefore, to comply with the financial and 
Capital market Commission’s regulatory requirements, the capital adequacy ratio may not be less than 8 percent.

as of 31 December 2007

assets
amount  

LvL

risk weight 
category 

%

risk-weighted 
value 

LvL

Cash and balances with the central bank 8 425 788 0% -

Due from credit institutions

Credit institutions incorporated in oeCd countries 41 820 006 20% 8 364 001

Credit institutions incorporated in eu countries 48 309 20% 9 662

due from credit institutions of the Republic of latvia 3 031 301 20% 606 260

due from other credit institutions 5 054 881 100% 5 054 881

Securities and investments

Securities issued by credit institutions incorporated
in the Republic of latvia and other fixed income securities 103 064 20% 20 613

other debt securities 4 229 052 100% 4 229 052

Shares and other variable yield securities 173 631 100% 173 631

investments in associates 429 009 100% 429 009

Securities held for trading 

debt securities 4 215 824 *

Shares 1 262 029 *

investment funds 19 133 *

Reverse repo 806 287 *

accrued income (accrued coupon yield + % reverse repo) 67 742 *

* Capital requirement for securities included in the trading portfolio is calculated within the framework of risk-based capital requirement 

for securities positions and counterparty.

(Continued on page 69)
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(Continued. Started on page 68)

as of 31 December 2007

Loans, net
amount  

LvL

risk weight 
category 

%

risk-weighted 
value 

LvL

Claims secured by fixed-term deposits 820 506 0% -

Claims secured by mortgages on real property registered 
with the land Registry office 21 780 50% 10 890

Claims on borrowers other than credit institutions, 
except for lower- risk claims 32 911 151 100% 32 911 151

prepaid expenses and accrued income,
if those are not attributable to a particular counterparty 43 871 50% 21 936

intangible assets 765 241 ** -

property, plant and equipment 7 636 158 100% 7 636 158

investment property 1 573 938 100% 1 573 938

other assets (including other accrued income) 2 371 304 100% 2 371 304

totaL riSK-weiGhteD vaLue oF aSSetS  115 830 005 63 412 486

** deducted from the equity (net worth).

(Continued on page 70)
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(Continued. Started on page 68)

as of 31 December 2007

oFF-BaLanCe Sheet LiaBiLitieS:
amount  

LvL

risk weight 
category 

%

risk-weighted 
value 

LvL

adjustment of 100 percent risk-weight for credit risk

guarantees issued 

0% risk-weighing 551 404 0% -

100% risk-weighing* 35 985 100% 35 985

adjustment of 50 percent risk-weight for credit risk 

Commitments to extend credit, open credit line, and similar liabilities

0% risk-weighing 76 668 0% -

100% risk-weighing 4 241 005 100% 2 120 503

adjustment of 20 percent risk-weight for credit risk 

documentary letters of credit 

0% risk-weighing 17 030 0% -

adjustment of a zero percent risk-weight for credit risk

Commitments to extend credit, where the bank has the right 
to refuse to implement the agreements on a unilateral basis

0% risk-weighing 1 876 851 0% -

The credit equivalent amount of foreign-currency derivative contracts 

20% risk-weighing 52 214 20% 10 443

100% risk-weighing 143 084 100% 143 084

total 6 994 241  2 310 015

total risk-weighted value of assets and off-balance sheet liabilities 65 722 501

Bank’s portfolio credit risk capital requirements 5 257 800

(Continued on page 71)
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(Concluded. Started on page 68)

as of 31 December 2007

equity (net worth)
amount  

LvL

risk weight 
category 

%

risk-weighted 
value 

LvL

paid-in share capital 7 611 285

Reserve capital and other reserves 545 024

Retained earnings 2 577 287

profit for the current year 1 495 930

intangible assets (765 241)

tier 1 Core Capital 11 464 285

Subordinated liabilities 

up to 1 year (inclusive) 12 100 0% -

1 to 2 years 7 168 20% 1 434

tier 2 Supplementary Capital 1 434

totaL CapitaL 11 465 719

total capital requirements

Bank’s portfolio credit risk capital requirement 5 257 800

foreign exchange risk capital requirement 112 810

position risk capital requirement 489 310

Counterparty risk capital requirement 71 070

Total amount of market risk capital requirements 673 190

equity coverage for capital requirements 5 534 729

CapitaL aDequaCy ratio

as of 31 December 2007 15,47%

CapitaL aDequaCy ratio

as of 31 December 2006 17,73%
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42.  MaTUrIties of asseTs and lIaBIlIties
as of 31 December 2007

aSSetS Demand
Less than 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

5 years 
and more others pledged totaL

Cash and balances 
with the central bank 8 422 868 2 920 - - - - - - - 8 425 788

due from credit 
institutions 43 514 183 3 944 041 1 460 474 551 404 484 395 - - - - 49 954 497

financial assets 
held for trading 4 827 344 739 462 - - - - 279 678 - 454 912 6 301 396

Securities held 
for trading 4 827 344 - - - - - 279 678 - 454 912 5 561 934

Derivative 
financial 
instruments - 739 462 - - - - - - - 739 462

Securities  
available for sale - - - - - - 173 631 - - 173 631

Securities held  
to maturity 4 256 358 38 071 10 751 22 903 4 033 - - - - 4 332 116

loans 1 154 989 2 775 970 1 825 953 3 322 040 9 539 886 14 497 085 1 442 428 - - 34 558 351

intangible assets - - - - - - 765 241 - - 765 241

property, plant and 
equipment - - - - - - - 7 636 158 - 7 636 158

investment property - - - - - - - 1 573 938 - 1 573 938

investments  
in associates - - - - - - 429 009 - - 429 009

deferred expenses 
and accrued income 72 313 89 077 933 4 794 42 252 494 162 13 387 - - 716 918

other assets 263 997 838 374 - - 228 786 - 371 267 - - 1 702 424

total assets 62 512 052 8 427 915 3 298 111 3 901 141 10 299 352 14 991 247 3 474 641 9 210 096 454 912 116 569 467

(Continued on р. 73)
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as of 31 December 2007

LiaBiLitieS Demand
Less than 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

5 years 
and more others pledged totaL

due to credit 
institutions 150 217 1 109 826 1 007 908 - 484 336 - - - 383 973 3 136 260

deposits 60 054 135 27 877 348 3 964 237 1 512 438 3 500 263 16 957 - - - 96 925 378

debt securities  
in issue - - - - - 803 171 - - - 803 171

derivative financial 
instrument - 740 557 - - - - - - - 740 557

accrued expenses, 
provisions and 
deferred income 297 024 12 203 75 437 161 349 14 194 48 402 1 122 - - 609 731

deferred tax 
liabilities 232 480 - - - - - - - - 232 480

other liabilities 1 869 545 - - - - - - - - 1 869 545

Subordinated 
liabilities - - - - 12 100 10 719 - - - 22 819

Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 12 229 526 - - 12 229 526

total liabilities 62 603 401 29 739 934 5 047 582 1 673 787 4 010 893 879 249 12 230 648 - 383 973 116 569 467

off-balance sheet 
liabilities * 4 353 658 - 17 030 - - - - - - 4 370 688

Maturity gap (4 445 007) (21 312 019) (1 766 501) 2 227 354 6 288 459 14 111 998 (8 756 007) x x x

as of 31 December 2006

assets 30 268 232 6 483 959 2 210 657 3 794 090 8 505 958 15 026 162 4 696 122 6 169 629 1 658 125 78 812 934

liabilities 43 939 792 9 783 246 2 663 275 2 468 282 6 546 013 991 594 10 733 836 - 1 686 896 78 812 934

off-balance sheet 
liabilities * 4 262 161 58 120 134 290 80 015 - - - - - 4 534 586

Maturity gap (17 933 721) (3 357 407) (586 908) 1 245 793 1 959 945 14 034 568 (6 037 714) x x x

* off- balance sheet liabilities are diminished by the amount of the issued guarantees, which are secured by the deposits deposited with the Bank 
and totaling lvl 551 404.
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43.  analYsIs of asseTs and lIaBIlIties BY CUrrenCY ProfIle
as of 31 December 2007

aSSetS LvL eur uSD ruB Bur
other 

currencies totaL LvL
Cash and balances with the central bank 7 226 138 963 942 223 684 - - 12 024 8 425 788
due from credit institutions 118 491 2 585 411 44 724 597 420 636 233 283 1 872 079 49 954 497
financial assets held for trading 1 019 140 - 5 160 400 121 856 - - 6 301 396

Securities held for trading 279 678 - 5 160 400 121 856 - - 5 561 934
Derivative financial instruments 739 462 - - - - - 739 462

Securities available for sale 131 111 42 520 - - - - 173 631
Securities held to maturity 103 064 - 4 229 052 - - - 4 332 116
loans 4 990 218 14 772 250 14 721 404 72 767 - 1 712 34 558 351
intangible assets 765 241 - - - - - 765 241
property, plant and equipment 7 636 158 - - - - - 7 636 158
investment property 1 573 938 - - - - - 1 573 938
investments in associates 429 009 - - - - - 429 009
deferred expenses and accrued income 616 694 46 851 51 607 181 - 1 585 716 918
other assets 1 614 881 18 798 61 476 728 - 6 541 1 702 424
total assets 26 224 083 18 429 772 69 172 220 616 168 233 283 1 893 941 116 569 467

LiaBiLitieS
due to credit institutions repayable on demand 2 140 5 061 143 016 - - - 150 217
due to credit institutions - other liabilities 2 109 772 - 876 271 - - - 2 986 043
deposits 2 387 114 16 206 089 76 500 159 461 739 228 160 1 142 117 96 925 378
debt securities in issue - 803 171 - - - - 803 171
derivative financial instruments 740 557 - - - - - 740 557
accrued expenses, provisions and deferred income 518 987 43 580 40 369 255 - 6 540 609 731
deferred tax liabilities 232 480 - - - - - 232 480
other liabilities 1 156 504 110 618 596 770 4 705 491 457 1 869 545
Subordinated liabilities 10 719 - 12 100 - - - 22 819
total liabilities 7 158 273 17 168 519 78 168 685 466 699 228 651 1 149 114 104 339 941
Shareholders’ equity 12 229 526 - - - - - 12 229 526
Share capital 7 611 285 - - - - - 7 611 285
Reserve capital 545 024 - - - - - 545 024
Retained earnings 2 577 287 - - - - - 2 577 287
profit for the current year 1 495 930 - - - - - 1 495 930
total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 19 387 799 17 168 519 78 168 685 466 699 228 651 1 149 114 116 569 467
BaLanCe poSition 6 836 284 1 261 253 (8 996 465) 149 469 4 632 744 827
unsettled spot forex contracts 520 000 (22 405 058) 23 591 203 - - (1 441 241)
forward contracts (8 507 375) 21 461 644 (13 873 184) - - 912 817
net poSition (1 151 091) 317 839 721 554 149 469 4 632 216 403
Ratio to the shareholders’ equity (%)* 2,77% 6,29% 1,30% 0,04%
The sum of overall foreign exchange exposure and the net position in gold stood at 12.3% the Bank’s equity as of 31 december 2007 (2006: 9.49%). 
* equity (net worth) totaling lvl 11 465 719 (2006: 10 528 538) as of 31 december 2007.

Figure shows that a 10 percent strengthening of the Latvian Lat against 
other currencies may have a material impact on the bank's profi eur uSD ruB

rate valid 0,702804 0,484 0,0197
foreign currency position 317 839 721 554 149 469

profit 22 338 34 635 299

as of 31 December 2006
assets 26 581 750 12 821 370 36 952 315 662 141 973 592 821 766 78 812 934
liabilities 14 665 338 7 670 735 54 451 613 625 880 1 000 739 398 629 78 812 934
Balance position 11 916 412 5 150 635 (17 499 298) 36 261 (27 147) 423 137
net position (2 463 538) 1 733 024 849 224 36 261 (27 147) 144 097
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44.  rePrICInG MaTUrIties of asseTs and lIaBIlIties
as of 31 December 2007

aSSetS

up to 
1 month 

(inclusive) 
LvL

1 to 3 
months  

LvL

 3 to 6 
months  

LvL

 6 to 12 
months  

LvL

one year 
and more  

LvL

no interest 
bearing 

LvL
others 

LvL
totaL 

LvL

Cash and balances with the central bank 7 536 492 - - - - 889 296 - 8 425 788
due from credit institutions 46 731 336 1 452 000 551 404 484 000 - 735 757 - 49 954 497
financial assets held for trading - 236 837 1 301 240 275 028 2 402 720 2 085 571 - 6 301 396

Securities held for trading - 236 837 1 301 240 275 028 2 402 720 1 346 109 - 5 561 934
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 739 462 - 739 462

Securities available for sale - - - - - - 173 631 173 631
Securities held to maturity - 100 000 1 291 178 100 000 2 746 640 94 298 - 4 332 116
loans 4 125 818 2 116 128 3 711 166 10 634 597 13 537 094 433 548 - 34 558 351
intangible assets - - - - - - 765 241 765 241
property, plant and equipment - - - - - - 7 636 158 7 636 158
investment property - - - - - - 1 573 938 1 573 938
investments in associates - - - - - - 429 009 429 009
deferred expenses and accrued income - - - - - 716 918 - 716 918
other assets - - - - - 1 702 424 - 1 702 424

total assets 58 393 646 3 904 965 6 854 988 11 493 625 18 686 454 6 657 812 10 577 977 116 569 467

LiaBiLitieS 

due to credit institutions 1 531 046 1 000 000 - 484 000 - 121 214 - 3 136 260
deposits 73 266 579 3 940 739 1 505 580 3 467 137 11 218 14 734 125 - 96 925 378
debt securities in issue - - - - 792 060 11 111 - 803 171
derivative financial instruments - - - - - 740 557 - 740 557
accrued expenses, provisions 
and deferred income - - - - - 609 731 - 609 731
deferred tax liabilities - - - - - 232 480 - 232 480
other liabilities - - - - - 1 869 545 - 1 869 545
Subordinated liabilities - - - 12 100 7 168 3 551 - 22 819
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 12 229 526 12 229 526

total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 74 797 625 4 940 739 1 505 580 3 963 237 810 446 18 322 314 12 229 526 116 569 467

Balance sheet sensitivity to interest rate risk (16 403 979) (1 035 774) 5 349 408 7 530 388 17 876 008 (11 664 502) (1 651 549)

effect on annual net interest income (157 205) (8 631) 33 434 18 826 (113 576)

a 100 basis point change in interest rates is likely to have effect (decrease/increase) on the Bank's annual net interest income to the amount of lvl 114 ths. 
(2006: lvl 86 ths.lvl).

as of 31 December 2006

assets 28 213 494 3 058 557 5 329 243 11 190 738 17 731 931 6 306 097 6 982 874 78 812 934

liabilities 40 978 031 2 578 604 2 093 816 6 374 097 966 665 15 088 125 10 733 596 78 812 934

Balance sheet sensitivity to interest rate risk (12 764 537) 479 953 3 235 427 4 816 641 16 765 266 (8 782 028) (3 750 722)
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45. GeoGraPhICal ConCenTration of asseTs and lIaBIlIties
as of 31 December 2007

aSSetS
Latvia 

LvL

other eu 
Member 

States 
LvL

other 
oeCD 

countries 
LvL

CiS 
countries  

LvL
others 

LvL
total 
LvL

Cash and balances with the central bank 8 425 788 - - - - 8 425 788

due from credit institutions 3 031 301 41 354 934 513 380 5 054 882 - 49 954 497

financial assets held for trading 878 428 2 934 775 1 398 247 940 557 149 389 6 301 396

Securities held for trading 279 677 2 934 775 1 389 732 940 331 17 419 5 561 934

Derivative financial instruments 598 751 - 8 515 226 131 970 739 462

Securities available for sale 131 111 42 520 - - - 173 631

Securities held to maturity 103 064 2 889 908 - 1 339 144 - 4 332 116

loans 24 838 296 3 523 918 4 010 062 885 233 1 300 842 34 558 351

intangible assets 765 241 - - - - 765 241

property, plant and equipment 7 636 158 - - - - 7 636 158

investment property 1 573 938 - - - - 1 573 938

investments in associates 429 009 - - - - 429 009

deferred expenses and accrued income 67 983 56 958 580 064 1 977 9 936 716 918

other assets 841 356 472 633 124 707 3 910 259 818 1 702 424

total assets 48 721 673 51 275 646 6 626 460 8 225 703 1 719 985 116 569 467

LiaBiLitieS

due to credit institutions repayable on demand 2 308 - - 100 451 47 458 150 217

due to credit institutions - other liabilities 2 594 108 391 935 - - - 2 986 043

deposits 11 584 959 18 930 385 16 532 732 5 055 245 44 822 057 96 925 378

debt securities in issue 803 171 - - - - 803 171

derivative financial instruments 108 691 - 243 396 - 388 470 740 557

accrued expenses, provisions and deferred income 526 976 62 635 3 175 8 811 8 134 609 731

deferred tax liabilities 232 480 - - - - 232 480

other liabilities 1 301 981 236 652 16 925 - 313 987 1 869 545

Subordinated liabilities 22 819 - - - - 22 819

total liabilities 17 177 493 19 621 607 16 796 228 5 164 507 45 580 106 104 339 941

Shareholders’ equity 9 401 771 1 935 115 560 2 710 165 95 12 229 526

Share capital 4 783 530 1 935 115 560 2 710 165 95 7 611 285

Reserve capital 545 024 - - - - 545 024

Retained earnings 2 577 287 - - - - 2 577 287

profit for the current year 1 495 930 - - - - 1 495 930

total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 26 579 264 19 623 542 16 911 788 7 874 672 45 580 201 116 569 467

(Continued on р. 77)
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(Concluded)

oFF-BaLanCe Sheet iteMS
Latvia 

LvL

other eu 
Member 

States 
LvL

other 
oeCD 

countries 
LvL

CiS 
countries  

LvL
others 

LvL
total 
LvL

Sureties (guarantees) 35 985 551 404 - - - 587 389

Commitments to customers 1 397 498 1 063 282 315 925 31 571 1 526 427 4 334 703

total off-balance sheet items 1 433 483 1 614 686 315 925 31 571 1 526 427 4 922 092

 as of 31 December 2006

assets 40 509 886 20 460 536 6 037 093 7 077 509 4 727 910 78 812 934

liabilities 17 439 254 9 421 297 17 720 843 8 671 899 25 559 641 78 812 934

off-balance sheet liabilities 2 058 597 674 085 1 726 991 108 669 942 335 5 510 677

46. ProdUCTIVITY of Bank’s BaLAnCe sheeT
31.12.2007 31.12.2006

aSSetS

average 
monthly 
balance 

LvL

interest 
income/ 
expense 

LvL

average 
interest 

rate  
%

average 
monthly 
balance 

LvL

interest 
income/ 
expense 

LvL

average 
interest 

rate 
%

Cash 1 118 883 - 0,0% 1 215 564 - 0,0%

Claims on central bank payable on demand 6 341 126 125 509 2,0% 5 212 746 96 879 1,9%

due from credit institutions 38 377 002 1 865 468 4,9% 26 099 724 1 242 722 4,8%

loans, net 34 853 627 2 954 420 8,5% 27 170 723 2 335 378 8,6%

Loans 36 019 719 2 954 420 8,2% 28 080 771 2 335 378 8,3%

Allowances for doubtful debts (1 166 092) - 0,0% (910 048) - 0,0%

debt securities 7 958 559 615 906 7,7% 5 662 818 376 683 6,7%

other assets 11 865 036 - 0,0% 11 458 719 - 0,0%

a. total assets 100 514 233 5 561 303 5,5% 76 820 294 4 051 662 5,3%

LiaBiLitieS 

due to credit institutions 2 909 744 193 042 6,6% 2 181 270 75 411 3,5%

deposits 80 237 628 1 455 228 1,8% 58 804 213 961 219 1,6%

debt securities in issue 892 970 54 667 6,1% 1 031 688 65 591 6,4%

Subordinated liabilities 19 951 502 2,5% 88 756 1 452 1,6%

other liabilities 4 730 483 - 0,0% 5 239 019 - 0,0%

B. total liabilities 88 790 776 1 703 439 1,9% 67 344 946 1 103 673 1,6%

Shareholders’ equity 11 723 457 - 0,0% 9 475 348 - 0,0%

C. total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 100 514 233 1 703 439 1,7% 76 820 294 1 103 673 1,4%

net interest income

interest spread % (a-B) 3,6% 3,7%

investment spread % (a-C) 3,8% 3,9%
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47. CredIT rIsk

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance-sheet, including 
derivatives. exposures are based on net carrying amounts as reported in balance sheet.

The maximum credit exposures are shown both gross, i.e. without taking into account of any collateral and other 
credit enhancement, and net, i.e. after taking into account any collateral and other credit enhancement. The details on 
type and amounts of collateral held is disclosed in the respective notes.

Gross maximum  
credit risk exposure  

31.12.2007 
LvL

net maximum  
credit risk exposure 

31.12.2007 
LvL

Cash and balances with the central bank 8 425 788 8 425 788

due from credit institutions 49 954 497 49 954 497

financial assets held for trading 6 301 396 6 301 396

Securities held for trading 5 561 934 5 561 934

Derivative financial instruments 739 462 739 462

Securities available for sale 173 631 173 631

Securities held to maturity 4 332 116 4 332 116

loans 34 558 351 3 169 488

intangible assets 765 241 765 241

property, plant and equipment 7 636 158 7 636 158

investment property 1 573 938 1 573 938

investments in associates 429 009 429 009

deferred expenses and accrued income 716 918 716 918

other assets 1 702 424 1 702 424

total assets 116 569 467 85 180 604

Sureties (guarantees) 587 389 35 985

Commitments to customers 4 334 703 816 367

total off-balance sheet items 4 922 092 852 352

total maximum credit risk exposure 121 491 559 86 032 956
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48. CLAssIfICation and faIr ValUes of fInanCIal asseTs
as of 31 December 2007

Loans and 
receivables 

LvL

held  
to maturity 

LvL

held  
to trading 

LvL

available  
for sale 

LvL

total carrying 
amount 

LvL
Fair value 

LvL

Cash and balances with the central bank 8 425 788 - - - 8 425 788 8 425 788

due from credit institutions 49 954 497 - - - 49 954 497 49 909 575

financial assets held for trading - - 6 301 396 - 6 301 396 6 301 396

Securities held for trading - - 5 561 934 - 5 561 934 5 561 934

Derivative financial instruments - - 739 462 - 739 462 739 462

Securities available for sale - - - 173 631 173 631 173 631

Securities held to maturity - 4 332 116 - - 4 332 116 4 332 116

loans 34 558 351 - - - 34 558 351 34 445 073

investments in associates - - - 429 009 429 009 429 009

total financial assets 92 938 636 4 332 116 6 301 396 602 640 104 174 788 104 016 588

as of 31 December 2006

Loans and 
receivables 

LvL

held  
to maturity 

LvL

held  
to trading 

LvL

available  
for sale 

LvL

total carrying 
amount 

LvL
Fair value 

LvL

Cash and balances with the central bank 6 653 180 - - - 6 653 180 6 653 180

due from credit institutions 21 391 642 - - - 21 391 642 21 371 290

financial assets held for trading - - 7 497 335 - 7 497 335 7 497 335

Securities held for trading - - 7 256 070 - 7 256 070 7 256 070

Derivative financial instruments - - 241 265 - 241 265 241 265

Securities available for sale - - - 173 631 173 631 173 631

Securities held to maturity - 1 594 549 - - 1 594 549 1 594 549

loans 31 399 651 - - - 31 399 651 32 190 602

investments in associates - - - 429 009 429 009 429 009

total financial assets 59 444 473 1 594 549 7 497 335 602 640 69 138 997 69 909 596



"BaltiC inteRnational BanK"
unified Business identifier (uBi): 40003127883; Bank Code: 310101740 
account with the Bank of latvia: 700161740; Swift Code: BliB lv 22; telex: 161334 BiB lv

heaD oFFiCe in riGa

Kaleju iela 43, riga, 
lv-1050, latvija 
telephone: (+371) 67 222 789
facsimile: (+371) 67 220 330
Grēcinieku iela 6, rīga, 
lv-1050, latvija 
telephone: (+371) 67 000 444
facsimile: (+371) 67 000 555 
e-mail: info@bib.eu 
www.bib.eu

repreSentative oFFiCe  
in the ruSSian FeDeration

novinskiy Bulvar d. 11a, b.1, 
Moscow, 121099, 
Russian federation
telephone: (+7495) 380 19 14
facsimile: (+7495) 380 19 13 
e-mail: info.moscow@bib.eu
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in the uniteD KinGDoM

77 Brook Street,
London, w1K 4hy
united Kingdom 
telephone: (+4420) 74952789 
e-mail: mk@bib.eu 

repreSentative oFFiCe  
in uKraine

119 ul. Saksaganskogo, 
Kyiv, ukraine
telephone: (+ 095) 60775678,
(+ 371) 29443371
e-mail: info@bib.eu 
www.bib.eu


